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“As a mother to two sons I have my hands 
full a lot of the time and most days I feel 
great, but some days I am in pain with 
neuropathy. I honestly feel blessed to be 
doing so well. Being in remission doesn’t 
mean it’s over: the mental health side 
is very real and there is the constant 
worry of relapse. I try to keep home life 
fun and positive but with a few hospital 
admissions, it does affect my children.

My family follow all the Myeloma UK social 
media pages and access the website for 
up-to-date information. The Infoline has 
helped me massively, and it has always 
been amazing and a great help. Calling 
the Infoline can really help put patients’ 
minds at ease. It is specialist advice from 
the comfort of your own home.

I feel like Myeloma UK needs constant 
financial support from supporters 
because it is the only charity exclusive to 
myeloma. It’s a lifeline to patients. I held 
an event in 2019 and raised over £4,000 
and it felt so good to give back, especially 
seeing how the money is used for clinical 
trials, for example, which makes funding 
so important. Myeloma UK cares and is 
always there.”

People like Carly, who was diagnosed with myeloma in 
November 2018, inspire everything we do.

carly leigh james 
@carlyleighj

Having one of them days, feeling 
scared and unsure. Reached out to 
@MyelomaUK this morning and 
feel so much better and way more 
positive. Thank you for always being 
there #myelomauk

4.58PM April 15, 2020
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We are
one Myeloma UK community
 We are myeloma patients – around 24,000 people in the 

UK at any one time

 We are the carers, friends and families of people with 
myeloma and related conditions

 We are the 16 people who find out they have myeloma 
every day in the UK

 We are the 107 Myeloma UK support groups, sharing 
advice and experiences 

 We are the inspirational fundraisers, completing incredible 
challenges even during a pandemic, to support people with 
myeloma 

 We are the researchers working every day to find better 
ways to treat myeloma

 We are the donors and supporters who make everything 
we do possible

 We are the 52 members of staff at Myeloma UK, whose 
work is always guided by people with myeloma

Together, we are Myeloma UK 
This is how we worked throughout 2020 

to make myeloma history
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Thank you  
from our Chair
Together, we have made sure 
Myeloma UK is ready to meet the 
healthcare legacy of COVID-19
As we mark the first anniversary of the start 
of the pandemic, we would be hard pushed to 
find anyone who has come through the past 
year unscathed. For myeloma patients and 
their friends, families and carers, however, it has 
been an exceptionally difficult time.

For myeloma patients, the pandemic has 
meant shielding from family and friends. It 
has meant having to cope with the anxiety of 
changes to treatment. It has meant feeling 
isolated and alone.

But 2020 also proved that patients are 
never truly alone. The myeloma community 
remained as close as ever, and we were able 
to meet a huge increase in demand for our 
information and support services thanks to 
the overwhelming response to our emergency 
COVID-19 appeal. We are so grateful to 
everyone who donated.

We also owe a huge debt of thanks to all the 
clinical teams who cared for patients over 
the last year. In particular, we are indebted to 
those clinicians who gave additional time to 
work with us to ensure patients received the 
best, most accurate information in an ever-
changing situation.

I also want to thank every patient and family 
member who shared experiences with us and 
participated in our COVID-19 surveys. You 
helped us tell our community’s story to the 
government. It is a powerful story and one  
that needs to be heard.

When it comes to appreciation, I would like 
to say a very special thank you to everyone 
at Myeloma UK. All the fantastic staff, ably 
led by our new CEO, Laura Kerby, and my 
colleagues on the Board of Trustees, have 
worked tirelessly to support patients in this 
incredible year, and I know how touched they 
have been by the feedback received from 
patients and supporters.

Sadly, 2020 was my last full year as Chair of 
Myeloma UK and I will be retiring from the role 
in 2021 after nine years on the Board, initially 
inspired by wonderful and dearly missed friend, 
Alan Naftalin. Myeloma UK is a charity that 
has always striven for excellence in diagnosis, 
treatment and care; met the challenges of 
change with innovation; and made a difference, 
a positive impact, for patients and their families. 
Our sense of purpose has always differentiated 
us as a charity, and I am sure our new Chair will 
continue that tradition.

I am immensely proud of Myeloma UK, of the 
myeloma community, and of all who support 
us in so many different ways. Together, we will 
make sure Myeloma UK is ready to meet the 
healthcare legacy of COVID-19. 

Marc Gordon 
Chair

“I want to thank every patient 
and family member who 
shared experiences with 
us and participated in our 
COVID-19 surveys. You 
helped us tell our community’s 
story to the government.”
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CEO welcome
We must give every person with 
myeloma an empowered present 
and a hopeful future.
April 2020 was, to say the least, an unusual 
time to begin my role as CEO of Myeloma UK. 
Three months into a global pandemic and an 
unprecedented national lockdown, I arrived 
– or, more accurately, joined my first video 
calls with colleagues – in a period when many 
organisations were still struggling to find their 
place in a suddenly unfamiliar world.

Yet what struck me immediately was the 
determination of our staff to maintain our 
support for people with myeloma and related 
conditions. A colossal effort had already 
happened to shift to working from home with 
minimal disruption, and as a result we were 
meeting a significant increase in demand 
from patients and families. We were also 
continuing to play our unique bridging role 
between people with myeloma, clinicians, 
academics, researchers, policymakers and 
the pharmaceutical industry. Despite all of 
the pressures the pandemic created, we 
made sure we understood exactly how the 
myeloma community was being impacted 
and did everything in our power to protect 
patients’ interests.

As a result, we managed to meet many of the 
commitments we made to patients in 2019 
and I can’t thank all of our staff and supporters 
enough for making that possible. 

We had to adapt how we worked, of course, and 
to respond to increasing demands on many of 
our partners, particularly those working in the 
NHS. But this review is testament to the endless 
determination shown by everyone connected to 
Myeloma UK throughout 2020.

It was evident even from the early days that the 
pandemic would change healthcare forever, 
and it was in this context that we also began to 
redefine our future strategy in the second half 
of the year. Amid so much uncertainty, it was, 
and will remain, vital to understand how we 
can deliver the most value as an organisation. 
As we seek to make myeloma history, we must 
give every person with myeloma an empowered 
present and a hopeful future. That will only 
happen if patients are truly at the centre of 
our decision-making, and if we target our 
investments and energy towards those areas 
of unmet need where we are now able to create 
transformational impact.

As such, and following an intensive strategic 
review in the second half of 2020, our future 
focus will be on four areas: enabling earlier 
diagnosis of myeloma and related conditions; 
supporting scientific discovery to build 
understanding of causes and treatments; 
transforming the patient experience so 
everyone with myeloma is guaranteed high-
quality care; and influencing positive change 
in how patient care is designed, delivered and 
funded. Working in this way, we will build upon 
the progress you can read about throughout 
this review, as we strive to reduce the impact of 
myeloma and to ensure everyone with myeloma 
is given the right help at every stage.

Putting patients first has always been in our 
DNA, and that will never change. It’s a privilege 
for me to introduce the extraordinary work 
that was done in 2020 despite unprecedented 
challenges, and to now guide our work forward 
– led by the patients we exist to support.

Thank you again for being with us,

Laura Kerby
CEO 
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What is myeloma?
Myeloma is an incurable blood cancer that begins in the bone marrow. It’s 
the third most common form of blood cancer but can be difficult to diagnose 
because myeloma symptoms are often mistaken for those of other diseases. 
For that reason, it’s often diagnosed late or when patients need emergency help. 
Around 24,000 people in the UK live with myeloma, and patients’ experiences 
of the disease vary greatly.

Treatment aims to control myeloma, relieve people’s symptoms, and improve 
their quality of life. It generally leads to periods when life is easier for patients, 
but symptoms will inevitably return and require further treatment.

Every year 
there are

5,800
new cases of

myeloma in the UK
– that’s 16 cases every day

At any one time 
there are around

24,000
people living 
with myeloma 
in the UK

https://www.myeloma.org.uk


About Myeloma UK 
Myeloma UK works to deliver better outcomes for patients:

 • We listen to patients and their families, provide information 
and emotional support, and connect patients to each other 
through support groups

 • We partner with healthcare experts to identify and address 
barriers to diagnosis

 • We invest in strategic research to drive innovation in 
treatments, increase survival times, improve quality of life, 
and find a cure for myeloma

 • We evidence the needs, experiences and preferences of 
patients to inform and drive change

 • We influence UK health policy and enable access to new 
treatments via the NHS

 • We create resources and information for professionals 
involved in treating and caring for patients

 • We raise awareness of the symptoms of myeloma with the 
general public through campaigns

 • We fundraise to invest in delivering the change myeloma 
patients need and deserve

8 | Myeloma UK Annual Report 2020

We receive no core government 
funding for the work we do, and we rely 
on voluntary donations and fundraising 
activities to make myeloma history



Our work in 2020
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Providing patient information  
and support
In any year, we’re here to help myeloma patients and their friends and 
family overcome confusion and concerns. In 2020, providing accurate 
and up-to-date information became more relevant than ever. Facing 
questions about everything from COVID-19 vaccinations to changes to 
myeloma treatments, we delivered a wide range of clinical, emotional 
and social support to help the myeloma community feel less isolated 
and more in control.

Launching a COVID-19 
Information Hub
In the early weeks of the pandemic, demand 
for our Myeloma Infoline and Ask the Nurse 
email services skyrocketed. Calls to the 
Infoline increased by 249% compared with 
2019, and many of our staff temporarily  
shifted focus to help our patient information 
team respond effectively.

To make it easier for patients to find answers, 
we published a list of the most commonly 
asked questions online, covering issues such 
as shielding and attending clinics during the 
pandemic. We also shared advice to help 
people make the most of remote consultations. 
And we worked with our partners in the One 
Cancer Voice coalition to publish broader 
advice on coronavirus for people with cancer.

Our patient information is always guided by 
the concerns of the myeloma community, and 
as the questions kept coming, we launched a 
dedicated COVID-19 Hub online. We updated 
this with the latest advice throughout 2020, 

with webinars, detailed information on 
vaccines, tips for living well, exercise guides 
and more. Much of the content was shaped by 
our weekly conversations with clinicians in the 
UK Myeloma Forum and by our ongoing patient 
surveys. Because we were listening to patients 
from the very start of the pandemic, we knew 
that families were worried about the costs of 
staying safe, and we offered every patient  
a free Myeloma UK face mask.

“I have always been impressed 
by the service provided 
by Myeloma UK, and the 
information you have 
provided is comprehensive, 
relevant and very helpful.”
– Anonymous quote  

from one of our website users
Calls to the Infoline 
increased by 249% 
at the start of the 
pandemic

Our COVID-19 
Information Hub  
was viewed over  
66,000 times

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Moving Support Groups 
and Infodays online
Our local Support Groups help people tackle 
the loneliness and fear that can accompany a 
myeloma diagnosis. Groups offer a chance to 
meet others who understand, who have faced 
similar challenges and who know what can 
help. In a year when all of us found ourselves 
isolated, our 107 Groups gained even greater 
importance – so we offered immediate support 
to make sure they could keep running.

With face-to-face meeting no longer an option 
we helped many of our Groups – which are 
run by patients, family members, carers and 
nurses – to keep meeting online. We even took 
the opportunity to host the first national digital 
Support Group meeting with 24 Groups joining 
talks and discussions. The feedback from 
participants was extremely positive.

In the same spirit we also shifted our 
Myeloma UK Infodays online, bringing together 
health professionals and myeloma specialists 
to discuss subjects such as living well with 
myeloma and coping with relapse, as well as 
topics related to COVID-19. Subsequently 
posted on our website, these sessions helped 
us reach five times more patients, families and 
carers than in 2019. The recordings continue 
to be viewed on our Facebook page – a clear 
sign of the demand for our patient information 
throughout 2020.

24 Support Groups  
joined our first ever  
virtual national  
Support Group meeting

Our Digital Infoday  
Sessions helped us 
increase our 
connection with patients, 
families and carers by 
500% in 2020

96% of patients felt 
better informed after 
joining one of our 
Digital InfoSessions

“Thank you so much for the 
webinars. For a myeloma 
patient they are informative 
and provide all the information 
in such a way that, although 
I don’t understand all the 
science, it gives me a great 
sense of hope for the future.”
– Feedback following one of our 

online information sessions

10
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Understanding the true 
impact of COVID-19
We mean it when we say people with 
myeloma and related conditions are at the 
heart of our decision making. So to guide 
the information and support we offered in 
2020, we conducted two mass surveys of 
patients, friends and families. These surveys 
also guided our advocacy work with the NHS 
and policymakers. Together they provided a 
uniquely comprehensive picture of the impact 
of COVID-19 on people living with myeloma. 
The surveys were subsequently cited in a 
larger study by the Association of Medical 
Research Charities.

Our first survey in May and June showed that 
while few myeloma patients had tested positive 
for COVID-19, managing physical and mental 
health had become major challenges. Close to 
half of patients who responded had also had 
their treatment programmes changed.

The results led Laura Kerby, our CEO, to call 
on the government not to abandon myeloma 
patients as shielding measures were relaxed. 
In particular, with myeloma patients more likely 
to develop serious COVID-19 symptoms, we 
pushed for nuanced shielding advice and real-
time data on the impact of the coronavirus on 
treatment programmes.

In an ever-changing situation, we then launched 
a second survey in August and September 
to understand how experiences had shifted. 
Among other findings, the survey revealed that 
shielding remained a concern and a significant 
number of patients had had their high-dose 
therapy and stem cell transplants deferred.

Based on the second survey, and with regional 
restrictions on the horizon, we pushed for more 
localised data to prevent inequalities in care 

and raised our concerns that the pandemic 
would slow the diagnosis of myeloma. These 
surveys and the issues they raised continued to 
shape our focus for the rest of the year and 
into 2021.

Gaining accreditation 
for our information and 
support 
Amid endless speculation about what the 
pandemic meant for public health, it was vital 
that clinically extremely vulnerable people – 
including myeloma patients – could access 
information they could trust. We made sure 
that was possible, and our patient information 
and support services both received official 
recognition.

First came the Helplines Partnership’s quality 
standard accreditation, awarded for our 
Infoline, Ask the Nurse email service, discussion 
forum and patient network. Announcing this 
award, Paula Ojok, Helplines Partnership CEO, 
said: “It’s a credit to Myeloma UK that they 
completed the helpline standard accreditation 
during the current COVID-19 climate”.

We were also awarded the PIF TICK quality 
mark. Administered by the Patient Information 
Forum, it recognises our commitment to 
providing high-quality, trustworthy information.

1,439 patients shared  
their experiences with  

us as part of our 
COVID-19 patient surveys

We were awarded the 
Patient Information 
Forum PIF Tick – a 

clear sign we’re giving 
patients information 

they can trust

The Helplines Partnership 
recognised the high 
standard of our Infoline 
for the 16th year running

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Showing life during lockdown
To demonstrate the reality of living with 
myeloma during the pandemic, we published 
a series of personal lockdown stories online. 
This one, written by patient Scott Nunn in April, 
outlines the kind of challenges many people 
were sharing with us:

“On March 9th I had just finished my six-month 
course of chemo and was ready to have a 
month off all drugs in the lead up to my stem 
cell harvest and then my transplant in April. I 
was already planning to go into isolation. I just 
didn’t expect the whole world to follow suit!

My transplant has been delayed for at least 
three months. Fortunately, my stem cell harvest 
was brought forward by a week. There was 
a concern that it wouldn’t happen, as the 
teams at University College London Hospital 
were becoming very short staffed. Instead of 
preparing for the harvest over eight days, we 

had to do it in four, although on the day of the 
harvest, they collected over five million stems 
cells, one million more than they needed. 

My partner and I are both in complete isolation. 
I’m very lucky to have my parents and brother 
live close by. They are shopping for us and 
bringing food to the door. I actually love being 
at home. But we both are missing going for long 
walks and exercising right now. Even though 
I’m in good shape, and I’ve responded to the 
treatment very well so far, it worries me how 
long it will be until my transplant

The Myeloma UK Info Hub for COVID-19 is the 
first place I will go to for advice. I was told in 
my first meeting not to Google any information 
and just to use the Myeloma UK website and 
booklets, and to call my cancer team when 
needed. It’s been the best advice given to me”.

“I was told not to 
Google and just use 

the Myeloma UK 
website”

12
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Ensuring patients’ voices were heard
As the COVID-19 pandemic rapidly transformed healthcare, our unique 
position in the myeloma community meant we could connect with 
clinicians, decision makers and other charities to make sure patients’ 
voices were never ignored.

Building links in uncertain 
times
Through our patient advocacy work, we press 
for access to new treatments that will improve 
and prolong life for people with myeloma and 
related conditions. We also lobby for policy 
changes that truly reflect people’s experiences. 
In 2020, when the pandemic left myeloma 
patients more vulnerable than ever and forced 
major changes to treatment programmes, our 
links across the myeloma community helped 
make sure patients’ voices were heard.

Our surveys and patient information and 
support services (see pages 9–12) gave 
us a clear picture of what people were going 
through, and we shared these insights with 
specialist clinicians on our weekly calls with the 
UK Myeloma Forum (UKMF). Joining those calls 
also meant we could hear directly from clinical 
staff about the issues affecting their services. 
Working with the UKMF, we were able to send 
letters to NHS England and NICE, pressing for 
reassurances that myeloma patients would 
not be disadvantaged if ventilators and other 
healthcare resources needed to be prioritised 
due to COVID-19.

We also took part in NHS England’s weekly 
COVID-19 online forum, hearing first-hand 
about changing plans and services. During 
these calls we challenged NHS managers on 
issues from shielding to prioritising cancer 
treatments – always informed by what patients 
were telling us. Our experiences informed our 
detailed submission to the UK parliamentary 
inquiry into delivering NHS services during 
the pandemic.

We also developed similar links with the 
devolved governments, and in May we joined 

other expert witnesses to set out priorities 
for myeloma patients at a special meeting of 
the Scottish Parliament Cross Party Group 
on Cancer. In Wales and Northern Ireland, we 
joined roundtables on blood cancer policy.

And with our partners in the Blood Cancer 
Alliance, we published a major new report 
on speeding up access to new drugs and 
treatments on the NHS. To make sure our 
community’s voices were listened to at the 
highest level, patient Stephanie Evans joined 
us and shared her experience at a virtual 
Westminster launch for the report.

In September, we presented to a virtual meeting 
of the Parliamentary and Scientific Committee, 
an associate group to the Westminster 
parliament. Our focus was on precision 
medicine and genomic mapping. We know 
that myeloma treatment is at risk of falling 
behind in this area, but after the presentation 
we were invited to join the NHS England and 
NHS Improvement Clinical Reference Group 
for Genomics. From now on, we’ll make sure 
myeloma is at the heart of discussions about 
using innovative technology to personalise 
treatments – a key focus for our future work. 

“The work carried out by 
Myeloma UK as part of the 
Blood Cancer Alliance has 
made a real difference to the 
future of myeloma treatment.”
– Stephanie Evans, myeloma patient

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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“This approval 
now provides 
for the best 
possible 
treatment.” 

After NICE initially published a draft refusal 
for a new combination of drugs for myeloma 
patients who have relapsed three times, we 
made a strong case for approval – guided 
by the insights of patients like Alan Chant. 
Like Alan, we were delighted when NICE 
reversed its original decision and approved 
the use of the new treatment in October:

“I am delighted that NICE have approved the 
isatuximab/pomalidomide/dexamethasone 
combination through the Cancer Drug Fund for 
fourth line treatment for myeloma patients, and 
am grateful to have had the opportunity to play 
a part as a patient expert.

This approval provides a unique and innovative 
triplet combination of drugs, each of which 
acts on myeloma cells in a unique way at the 
same time, and meets an unmet need in the 
treatment pathway. Monoclonal antibodies 
such as isatuximab are breakthrough drugs 
which are now available at other stages of 
treatment and this approval now provides for 
the best possible treatment for relapsed and 
refractory patients at this critical time in their 
myeloma journey”.

Continuing to push  
for better treatments 
In spite of the pandemic, we contributed to 
more Health Technology Appraisals in 2020 
than ever before. Through these appraisals, 
new treatments are considered for use. It’s 
our role to share patients’ experiences and 
show the impact the treatments could have on 
people’s lives.

In 2020 we were involved in seven NICE 
appraisals and four at the Scottish Medicines 
Consortium. Three of these resulted in new 
treatments being passed in 2020.

Myeloma patients directly contributed to the 
NICE appraisal of lenalidomide maintenance, 
after we surveyed 400 patients to share their 
experiences. This is a potentially transformative 
treatment for patients. This year, it was 
approved for use in Scotland. In England, 
however, NICE rejected the initial appraisal. We 
secured special permission for both a patient, 
Steve, and two clinicians to appear at the review 
hearing in December to appeal against that 
decision and we’ll keep pushing for equal care 
for patients right across the UK.

As treatments changed in response to the 
coronavirus pandemic – with treatments 

made available as injections or in tablet form, 
for example – we also contributed to several 
rapid turnaround approval processes. By the 
end of the year, patients were asking us how 
these treatments would change once the 
pandemic receded – and we continued to lobby 
policymakers for clear guidance.

Finally, we were also heavily involved in NICE’s 
review of its own methods of evaluating new 
treatments. This covered issues including the 
types of evidence NICE will accept and how 
much it considers whether treatments will 
improve quality of life. We were a member of 
a key working group looking at when NICE’s 
usual cost-effectiveness guidelines should be 
adapted. We also showed the challenges of 
getting treatments approved for a relapsing 
and remitting cancer like myeloma. As ever, 
patients’ experiences were at the heart of our 
evidence.

Our evidence helped  
three new drug 
combinations  
get approval for  
NHS use in 2020



Supporting healthcare professionals 
Our specialist educational resources help haematologists, nurses, 
GPs and other health professionals understand how to recognise 
and respond to myeloma. As patients had their clinical care severely 
disrupted in 2020, we took wide-ranging action to empower healthcare 
professionals with the knowledge they needed.

Encouraging  
early diagnosis
Early diagnosis matters. With myeloma and 
related conditions, it can prevent complications 
from occurring and ensure patients have a 
much better quality of life.

But the symptoms of myeloma can be hard to 
recognise and patients often wait more than 
five months for a diagnosis. Not only that, but 
one 2020 NHS England poll found that four in 
10 people were avoiding seeking help from 
their GP because of the pandemic. This made 
it more important than ever for doctors to have 
the tools they needed to identify risks at the 
earliest opportunity.

Recognising this, in 2020 we developed and 
launched our new GP Diagnostic Tool. It’s 
designed to raise awareness of possible signs 
and symptoms of myeloma. It also has details 
of the right tests to request and what to look 
for in test results. Created in collaboration with 
GPs, scientists and myeloma specialists, it’s 
available to download and as a bookmark.

To make sure as many GPs as possible 
accessed the tool, we worked with C the Signs 
– a nationwide GP education programme. And, 
in related activity, we worked with Macmillan 
to produce a factsheet for GPs on when to 
suspect myeloma and request tests.

94% of GPs felt more 
confident recognising 
the signs of myeloma 

thanks to our 
GP Diagnostic Tool

91% of GPs felt more 
confident interpreting  
the results of tests for 

myeloma thanks to  
our GP Diagnostic Tool 
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 “We are delighted to receive 
the Myeloma UK CSEP 
Award. It is very rewarding 
for the whole team to be 
recognised in this way for 
the work we do to provide 
high quality care for patients 
with multiple myeloma.”
– Dr. Simon Stern, consultant 

haematologist at Epsom and St Helier 
University Hospitals NHS Trust

Building knowledge  
of myeloma
The highest number of nurses in a decade 
– 420 – registered with our Myeloma Nurse 
Learning Programme in 2020. Accredited by 
the Royal College of Pathologists, it’s an online 
course that gives nurses the knowledge to 
deliver the best possible care for myeloma 
patients. We were delighted that so many 
nurses chose to develop their learning in this 
way, especially at a time when the nature of 
care changed dramatically for many patients.

Despite all the increased pressures on the 
clinical experts we work with on our early 
diagnosis programme, we continued to bring 
a range of experts and patients together to 
increase the likelihood of early diagnosis. We 
created a new expert-led working group on 
AL amyloidosis which will develop resources to 
raise awareness of this extremely rare condition 
among clinicians and help improve the speed 
of detection and diagnosis. We also progressed 
the work of the two working groups looking at 
MGUS and laboratory best practice that we 
launched at the end of 2019.

Rewarding  
excellence online 
Our Clinical Service Excellence Programme 
(CSEP) supports hospitals to deliver the highest 
levels of treatment and care for people with 
myeloma and related conditions. It’s a powerful 
way to make patients’ lives better because it 
helps staff to improve the service they offer and 
to share what they learn more widely.

Typically, Myeloma UK staff visit hospitals 
taking part in CSEP to interview staff, highlight 
potential areas for improvement and gather 
patient experiences. These visits weren’t 
possible during the pandemic, but we weren’t 
willing to let CSEP falter.

We swiftly started interviewing staff online, 
and as well as awarding accreditation to five 
hospitals for the first time, we began the 
reaccreditation of our existing CSEP centres. 
In September, we also gave the myeloma team 
at St Helier Hospital the CSEP excellence 
award via a virtual presentation. It’s one of 
many examples of how we refused to let the 
pandemic damage patient care last year.

16
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Building new knowledge  
for better patient futures 
We fund cutting-edge research, support clinical trials and analyse the 
care given to patients so we can help people live longer, fuller lives 
after a myeloma diagnosis. Even during a global pandemic, we focused 
on making sure this work could continue – so that patients’ lives can 
continue to change for the better.

Developing new 
clinical trials
Clinical trials provide the evidence needed 
to keep improving treatments for myeloma 
patients. We fund the development of trials 
through our UKMRA – Myeloma UK – Concept 
and Access Research Programme, also known 
as CARP, at the University of Leeds’ Clinical 
Trials Research Unit.

It’s the only initiative in the UK focused on 
developing early phase trials for myeloma 
patients. This matters because it helps patients 
get the treatments they want and need. 
Through CARP, we provide data that shows 
larger treatment trials will be worthwhile and 
help people to access new treatments before 
they are available through the NHS. Patients 
play a central role in the CARP steering group 
and in the set-up of all trials we develop.

Our objective for 2020, before the pandemic 
struck, was for our work at CARP to lead to 
funding for two new clinical trials. By the end 
of the year, the researchers at CARP had 
successfully secured funding for the first 
platform trial in myeloma, which will enable 
at least three treatments to be evaluated at 
once. The most effective treatment will then 
be rapidly identified and prioritised. It’s an 
innovative approach that could have profound 
consequences on people’s lives.

This new kind of trial embodies our vision 
for the CARP programme. We want to create 
scientifically sound trials that make the most of 
available funds and resources and – crucially – 
are designed with patients in mind.

A further five trials were also developed in 
2020. These are now seeking funding 
from other partners.

In 2020, CARP 
secured funding for 

the first platform 
trial in myeloma 

– meaning multiple 
treatments will be 
evaluated at once
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Our work in 2020

Moving forward with 
existing trials
Though the pandemic did disrupt many clinical 
trials that were already underway, several 
developed with Myeloma UK funding continued 
to make progress.

Following a pause in recruitment due to 
COVID-19, the MUK twelve trial restarted and 
steadily recruited new patients. When patients 
have relapsed or other treatments have been 
unsuccessful, this trial helps patients access 
a combination treatment including the novel 
drug selinexor.

Early analyses from the MUK nine clinical trial 
were also presented at a virtual conference 
hosted by the British Society of Haematology. 
The results showed the potential of genetic 
testing to select patients and revealed that 108 
high-risk patients had accessed a new intensive 
treatment combination not available through 
the NHS. Through clinical trials like this, we can 
move closer to a more personalised and more 
effective approach to myeloma treatment.

Transforming our 
knowledge of myeloma
Our work to understand the genetic changes 
that cause myeloma also continued despite 
the pandemic. In November, new research 
was published by the team at the Myeloma UK 
Centre for Translational Research (TRP) 
at the Institute of Cancer Research in London. 
This study identified key genetic changes in 
myeloma cell DNA from patients who had 
relapsed or developed resistance to drugs. 
Finding these mutations could help us 
understand how and why myeloma comes 
back – so we can prevent it happening.

TRP researchers also worked throughout 
2020 to identify high-risk myeloma patients 
using cytogenetic testing – which focuses 
on chromosomes and their structure. Their 
findings supported clinicians and patients 
around the world during the COVID-19 
pandemic, by helping to identify myeloma 
patients at the highest risk and most in need 
of intensive treatments.

And we continued our work with the Structural 
Genomics Consortium (SGC) in Oxford. 
Through this work we are learning more about 
the way successful and unsuccessful myeloma 
treatments work – which should ultimately 
result in better drugs being created. With the 
SGC in 2020 we developed new data analysis 
software to help companies developing 
drugs to test products quickly and identify 
issues before clinical trials. A key advantage 
of working with the SGC is their principle of 
sharing everything they discover to help speed 
up wider progress, and our work from 2020 is 
already freely available online. Again this should 
help speed up the development of kinder, more 
effective myeloma treatments.

A record 28 
publications from 
Myeloma UK funded 
research were 
published in 2020

18
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Despite the pandemic, Myeloma UK-funded 
researchers published more publications than 
ever in 2020. These included:

 • A paper published in the Leukemia Journal, 
indicating that repeat molecular profiling 
is needed to ensure patients who relapse 
get the most appropriate and personalised 
treatments at every stage.1

 • Research from the Structural Genomics 
Consortium in Oxford and published in the 
Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, based on an 
innovative approach to identify the cause of 
treatment side effects, with the potential to 
develop kinder treatments that help patients 
live well for longer.2

1. Croft, J., et. al. (2020) Copy number evolution and its 
relationship with patient outcome—an analysis of 178 
matched presentation-relapse tumor pairs from the 
Myeloma XI trial. Leukemia, p1-11. 

2. Ward, J.A., et. al., (2020) Re-evaluating the mechanism of 
action of α, β-unsaturated carbonyl DUB inhibitors b-AP15 
and VLX1570: a paradigmatic example of unspecific 
protein cross-linking with Michael acceptor motif-
containing drugs. Journal of medicinal chemistry, 63(7), 
p.3756-3762

Helping health services  
to improve
The third strand of our research work focuses 
on health services. Specifically, we work 
with patients, clinicians and researchers to 
understand what it means to live with myeloma 
and to make sure support keeps improving. The 
evidence we find also informs our advocacy 
work (see page 13) as we push policymakers 
to put patients’ needs first.

Our work last year included starting to develop 
an app that healthcare professionals and 
patients can use to make treatment decisions 
together. We also launched a funding call 
for research to understand how access to 
myeloma treatment – and the outcomes of 
treatment – varies depending on where you live.

To help identify priority areas for improvements 
in treatment and care, we were asked to 
support a research project looking at what 
matters most to myeloma patients, carers, 
clinicians and decision makers. And we 
completed the scoping phase for a myeloma 
patient registry, which would deliver clearer 
evidence of myeloma patients’ experiences, 
helping to inform policy changes and improve 
support. We have now chosen our preferred 
approach – working through the National 
Institute for Health Research Health Informatics 
programme – and proposed a pilot project to 
begin making this ambition a reality.

In addition, we published a series of reports 
looking at how the experience of living with 
myeloma compares with other cancers, using 
evidence from the 2018 National Cancer 
Patient Experience Survey. These give us 
an important baseline to understand how 
myeloma patients were treated before the 
pandemic: knowledge that will be essential in 
helping us understand the long-term impact 
of COVID-19 on cancer services. All of these 
studies will also help to make sure patients’ 
voices are not only heard but inspire progress. 
That’s why health services research matters.

In total in 2020

 • We contacted patients to share their 
experiences in 13 research projects

 • We were asked to take part in 18 external 
research projects

“Myeloma UK funding 
continued to support our work 
developing patient-centred 
early phase clinical trials. This 
work is vital for maintaining 
a pipeline of innovative 
treatments for myeloma 
patients in the UK. Despite 
the pandemic we have made 
significant progress and have 
one trial in set-up and five 
more complete proposals.”
– Dr Sarah Brown 

University of Leeds

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Fundraising to end myeloma
The amazing generosity of our supporters was in evidence like never 
before last year. We’d like to thank everyone who donated to help 
myeloma patients throughout 2020. Your kindness was a constant 
source of inspiration.

Fundraising in the time of 
COVID-19 
The majority of our ever-inspiring fundraisers 
are either myeloma patients or the families and 
close friends of patients, so COVID-19 had an 
immediate effect on our fundraising plans.

As the pandemic began to spread, the priority 
for everyone had to be to stay safe and shield 
if necessary. We immediately postponed many 
of our major fundraising events, including 
our planned Golf Day and the Myeloma UK 
Gala Dinner. The pandemic also forced the 
cancellation of many community fundraising 
events. And although we had to close our 
online shop as we were unable to send out 
customer orders, we set up a new shop linked 
directly to our Myeloma UK face mask supplier, 
meaning supporters could order facemasks 
and snoods to stay safe while raising vital funds 
for our work.

Facing a serious financial shortfall, we launched 
an unprecedented emergency appeal. The 
response was incredible, with £464,470 
raised from individual gifts, trusts, grants and 
matched funding. This income enabled us to 
respond to the huge increase in demand for our 
information and support services.

2020 was also a landmark year for legacy 
giving, as we received more than £1 million 
from gifts in Wills for the first time, with income 
totalling £1.28 million. And despite a rise in 
cancellations throughout the year, the number 
of people who donated with a Direct Debit also 
increased, compared with the previous year.

Philanthropy and partnerships also played 
a major role in supporting our work in 2020. 
Funding from the Coronavirus Community 
Support Fund, distributed by The National 
Lottery Community Fund, helped to make our 
Digital Infoday Sessions possible. Support 
from trusts including the DFN Charitable 
Foundation enabled much of our work at the 
Myeloma UK Centre for Translational Research. 
Pharmaceutical companies including GSK, 
Takeda and Janssen also provided generous 
funding that helped us meet the increased 
demand for our information services. And kind 
support from Pfizer meant we were able to 
plan a series of videos about remote medical 
appointments, due to be produced in 2021.

To everyone who donated to 
Myeloma UK in 2020, we really 
can’t thank you enough.

2020 was a  
landmark year for 

legacy giving, as 
we received more 

than £1 million from gifts in 
Wills for the first time, with 

income totalling £1.28 million.
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The Montlake family ran a full marathon – 26.2 miles – 
on their 14-metre long London balcony, raising 
over £11,000.
Deborah Montlake completed the balcony 
marathon with her partner Charles, who  
has myeloma, their son James and Charles’ 
mum, Ruth.
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“The initial diagnosis was very 
scary and hard to accept, and 
we will be forever grateful to 
Myeloma UK’s informative 
publications and website.”
– Deborah Montlake
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Supporting our virtual fundraisers
As the pandemic spread, it became clear that our supporters were keen to find COVID-safe ways 
to keep funding our work. We adapted quickly, giving the best possible support to our fundraisers 
and launching a range of virtual fundraising events. These are just a few examples of the endless 
generosity that made our year: 

 • 150 cyclists raised over £37,000 by joining our virtual London Paris bike ride. 
Instead of cycling to Paris in real life, they covered the distance on roads near 
their homes or on static bikes indoors

 • Later in the year, 31 relentless runners raised £30,945 by taking part in the 
virtual London Marathon

 • We moved our Coffee Morning Month online, with supporters raising over 
£10,000 by catching up with friends and family for a cup of coffee and slice  
of cake

 • Over 100 people joined our Lost in Lapland virtual challenge, running, walking 
or cycling 10km, 50km or 100km between the 1 and 24 of December – and 
raising over £34,467 in the process

 • We raised over £15,000 from our Myeloma Stars Christmas appeal, with  
528 donors dedicating a star in the night sky to someone who makes their  
life brighter

 • We sold more Christmas cards than ever before – raising over £85,000 – as 
more people looked to send loved ones a festive greeting when meeting up was 
more difficult

This is just a taste of our supporters’ unstoppable generosity last year. We faced challenges too, of 
course. Despite making changes to the fundraising team to deliver a regional fundraising strategy, we 
had to delay the roll out of the strategy until 2021. Fundraising from collections at celebration events 
and funerals also fell significantly. But 2020 showed just how close and determined the myeloma 
community really is.

Without our supporters, none of our 
life-changing work would be possible
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“I am so proud of our team and everything 
we have achieved.”

Ian Davies, who lives with myeloma, raised an 
unbelievable £25,000 for our work by rowing the 
Atlantic as part of the Atlantic Mavericks team:
“I decided a long-term challenge was the way 
forward to raise significant money for some great 
charities such as Myeloma UK and they don’t 
come much tougher than rowing the Atlantic.
More people have been into space or climbed 
Everest than have rowed the Atlantic. It is a 
huge challenge. Rowing the 3,000 miles across 
the Atlantic tested the limit of our physical and 
mental strength but we achieved something 
unthinkable and truly remarkable.

Fatigue is a symptom of my condition and it 
takes a certain kind of person to keep going 
when faced with blisters, salt rash, sharks and 
sleep deprivation. But we all knew we were 
doing it for such a worthwhile cause and we 
hope the funds raised can help Myeloma UK 
continue to support everyone affected by 
myeloma. I am so proud of our team and 
everything we have achieved”.
Thank you to Ian and all of our fundraisers 
across the UK.

Image: Shorpshire Star     23
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Delivering on our promises
What we said in 2019 and what we delivered in 2020

We said we would work to reach more patients and families, and to expand  
our workshop topics

The Myeloma UK Digital Infoday Sessions enabled us to cover more topics  
and reach five times more patients, families and carers.

We said we would increase diagnostic expertise in primary and secondary care

We launched the GP Diagnostic Tool, with 94% of GPs surveyed saying  
they felt more confident recognising the signs of myeloma.

We said we would convene a new working group looking at AL Amyloidosis

The pandemic limited the time we could ask of health care professionals so 
the group hasn’t yet met, but we progressed the scope of the group’s work  
and secured membership, ready to progress our first project – an 
educational module – in 2021.

We said we would explore new technologies and platforms to reach more patients

Our virtual support group meetings and Digital Infoday Sessions expanded  
our use of Zoom and Facebook.

We said we would work in partnership to do more for patients

We worked with a number of partners in 2020 to support patients.  
These included Macmillan, C the Signs, Cancer 52 and Costello Medical. 
Together, we delivered new tools, information and best practice guides  
for healthcare professionals.

We said we would continue to fund the Myeloma UK Centre for Translational Research 
at the ICR

We continued to fund this research, which aims to understand the genetic 
changes that cause myeloma, but progress was limited as the COVID-19 
pandemic led to laboratory closures.

We said we would deliver early phase trials to benefit myeloma patients through UKMRA 
Myeloma UK CARP

We approved funding for the first platform trial in myeloma, and worked on  
five more trials that are now seeking partnership funding.

24



We said we would use our health services research to drive change

We launched a funding call for a study on geographic inequalities  
and analysed the latest data on the experiences of cancer patients.

We said we would explore a myeloma patient registry with key stakeholders

We weighed up the risks and benefits of different approaches to developing  
a patient registry and proposed to move forward with the NIHR Health 
Informatics Collaborative. This project will deliver clearer evidence of 
myeloma patients’ experiences, helping to inform policy changes and 
leading to better treatment and care.

We said we would represent patient voices in complex health technology appraisals, 
ensuring access to new treatments

We gave evidence of patient preferences and experiences as part of  
11 HTAs in 2020, securing approval of three new treatments for  
myeloma patients.

We said we would support the early diagnosis programme

We agreed to build on our existing work and establish a Myeloma UK  
Early Diagnosis Research Programme, which will be a key task for 2021.

We said we would represent patient voices in the creation of cancer policies  
within the devolved nations

We were members of policy development and advisory groups in all four  
UK nations, representing patients’ experiences at the highest level.

We said we would put the myeloma patient voice at the heart of complex  
and challenging discussions on access to medicines

We engaged with the NICE processes and methods review to ensure myeloma 
patients’ experiences informed how drugs are appraised and approved.

We said we would launch a Myeloma UK Golf Day and Gala Dinner

The pandemic meant we had to postpone plans for the Golf Day and 
the Myeloma UK Gala Dinner for the foreseeable future. We are using 
alternative fundraising campaigns to ensure we can keep funding our work.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has led us to refocus and refresh our strategy, 
but our purpose remains the same: giving every patient an empowered 
present and a hopeful future. 
Our work in 2021 and beyond will deliver against four strategic cornerstones:

Diagnose
myeloma earlier

We will accelerate work on earlier detection and diagnosis 
to make the greatest impact on the length and quality of 
life for myeloma patients and those with related conditions.

 • The Myeloma UK Early Diagnosis programme identifies and addresses 
barriers to earlier diagnosis

 • The Myeloma UK Early Diagnosis Working Groups develop tools  
and education materials to speed up detection, referral and diagnosis 
at GP-level

 • We will establish the Myeloma UK Early Diagnosis Research programme 
to better understand how myeloma develops and identify patients at risk

Discover
and share knowledge

We will drive scientific breakthrough into the cause and 
treatment of myeloma and related conditions to increase 
patient survival and improve patient experience.

 • Myeloma UK funds translational research at the ICR to accelerate the 
development of personalised medicine to myeloma patients

 • Myeloma UK funds the UKMRA Myeloma UK Concept & Access Research 
Programme (CARP) to create new clinical trials and give patients early 
access to novel treatments

 • Myeloma UK supports the development of future research leaders by 
funding a Clinical Research Fellowship at the University of Leeds and the 
development of our early care research programme, fostering interest in 
myeloma as a focus of future research

 • The Myeloma UK patient data project enables better insight and 
evidencing of patient need and changes to policy, treatment and care

 • Myeloma UK’s Health Service Research identifies unmet need and patient 
preferences to inform change in healthcare policy and delivery

Our ambition for 2021
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Transform
the patient experience 

We will partner with patients to understand and meet their 
needs and build equal care for all. 

 • Myeloma UK puts patient need and experience at the heart of drug 
appraisals to make sure that patients can access new treatments

 • Myeloma UK drives excellence in patient-centred hospital care through 
our Clinical Services Excellence Programme (CSEP)

 • The Myeloma UK Myeloma Academy and Myeloma Nurse Learning 
Programme educate healthcare professionals to ensure that patients 
receive the best care informed by the latest learnings

 • Myeloma UK has the most comprehensive library of patient information 
on myeloma and related conditions, helping patients to understand and 
be in control of their decision-making

 • Myeloma UK offers specialist, tailored support to the whole myeloma 
community through our Myeloma Infoline and Ask the Nurse email service

 • Myeloma UK delivers a range of digital and physical events, directly 
connecting patients and families to expert analysis, advice and support

 • Myeloma UK partners patients to provide a UK-wide network of 
Support Groups, reducing isolation and offering friendship to the whole 
myeloma community

 • Myeloma UK will establish a volunteer peer to peer support service to 
bring together shared patient experiences and practical tips for living 
with myeloma and related conditions

Influence
positive change in care 

We will give a voice to patients and ensure that myeloma 
is not considered a second-class cancer.

 • Myeloma UK works to shape government policy across the four UK 
nations to recognise the needs of patients with myeloma and related 
conditions and create positive change

 • The Myeloma UK Advocacy Panel ensures patients speak directly to 
decision makers in NICE and government

 • The Myeloma UK Patient and Carer Research Panel integrates patient 
need into research design and policy development 

 • Myeloma UK’s Healthcare Advocacy Service programmes drive 
improvements in clinical practice and patient-centred care

 • Myeloma UK works with colleagues and stakeholders who share 
our vision for myeloma and blood cancer care and are committed to 
delivering positive change for patients

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Investing in change
Myeloma UK has always been committed to 
making sustainable investments that improve 
the lives of patients with myeloma and related 
conditions. Thanks to an unexpected and 
generous legacy from a patient in 2020, 
we ended the year in a financial position to 
continue to meet this promise.

We have therefore committed to spend more 
than £15m over the next three years. We 
believe this investment budget will enable us 
to weather the uncertain short-term economic 
environment while continuing to maintain 
our existing financial commitments to fund 
research and improvements in healthcare.

We expect COVID-19 to continue to increase 
demand for our support. It will also inevitably 
influence all of our ongoing work in research, 
treatment access, patient care and professional 
education. But we are more determined than 
ever to keep moving towards the day when we 
make myeloma history.

Partnership working 
We work with many organisations and 
individuals to make the greatest possible 
difference to the myeloma community.

First and foremost we work with patients, 
so that everything we do responds to what 
matters most to those living with myeloma. 
In 2020, we set the foundations for an even 
more comprehensive programme of patient 
involvement across all areas of our work, and 
we will roll out that programme in 2021.

We are proud to be a member of the Blood 
Cancer Alliance, joining forces with a range of 
charities to ensure that policymakers hear the 
voices of blood cancer patients.

We are a member of the Association of 
Medical Research Charities. Through our 
membership last year, we made sure patients’ 
voices and our wider ambitions fed into the UK 
government’s Restart Programme, which aims 
to reopen clinical research as soon as possible 
post-COVID-19.

We work closely with the UKMRA to support 
a constant stream of new clinical trials, so 
patients will always have access to future 
treatments and treatment combinations.

We partner with pharmaceutical and diagnostic 
companies, insisting that all of our partners 
are committed to working in a responsible 
and accountable way. We require a mutual 
commitment to open and transparent working 
and expect all of our partnerships and projects 
to be based on achieving clear, patient-focused 
objectives. This kind of partnership working 
is essential to deliver clinical trials that help 
patients access new treatments and therapies.

And in 2020 we also began scoping a new 
engagement model for partnership working 
with private sector partners. It’s based on 
delivering patient-led, innovative and impactful 
progress through partnerships, and we will 
continue to develop this model and roll it out 
throughout 2021.

Our people
We made changes in 2020 that reflected both 
how we needed to work during the pandemic 
and how we will structure and invest in the 
Myeloma UK team going forward.

To support the move to remote working, 
we ensured all staff were equipped with the 
technology they needed to work from home. 
When it was permissible and safe to do so, we 
also created new spaces where smaller groups 
could meet and talk with the leadership team 
to discuss strategy, project delivery and the 
experience of working in this new way.

Staff have told us they are interested in working 
long-term in a blended way that combines 
home and office working, and we will look at 
how to deliver that as the pandemic hopefully 
recedes. We are keen to explore new ways to 
meet and work together in person, to look at 
further investment in technology, and to expand 
training to make sure all staff can participate 
fully in our new working life.
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£4.7m

Our income 
for the year 
was £4.7m

£3.2m

Our expenditure on 
meeting the needs of 

people affected by 
myeloma was £3.2m.

£80p
From every £1 of 

expenditure, 80p was 
spent on improving 
the lives of people 

affected by myeloma.

£0.9m
Our expenditure on 

research totalled 
£0.9m

Income

Total income for the year was £4.7 million 
(2019: £4.7 million). This is consistent with the 
previous year and saw growth in our donations 
and legacy income and a reduction in event 
income and fundraising activities. 

Our voluntary income remained strong at £4.0m 
(2019: £3.3m). Donations and legacies grew to 
£2.6m (2019: £1.9m), an increase of £0.7m.
Fundraising activities and events income was 
£647k (2019: £1.3m) and includes income from 
our patrons’ programme, Myeloma UK events 
and our Myeloma UK lottery. 
We are very grateful for the significant and 
continuing financial support of all our donors 
and supporters.

Expenditure

Our expenditure for the year was £3.2m overall 
(2019: £3.7m), a reduction of £0.5m on the 
previous year. Much of this reduction, £363k, was 
on our research and development programme 
which included the research programmes at the 
Institute for Cancer Research.

We continued to operate with efficiency 
and effectiveness. Every pound spent 
on fundraising activity generated £7.20 
(2019: £6.10) of income and for every pound 
raised 80p (2019: 79p) was available for our 
charitable activities.

£4.7m

Total
Income

Donations, grants 
& legacies 
£4m

Services
£3k

Research and
development

£90k

Fundraising
activities

and events
£647k

Interest and
 other income

 £11k

£3.2m

Total
Expenditure

Raising funds
£0.8m

Services
£0.9m

Research and
development

£0.9m

Communications
£0.6m

Report of the Directors 
for the 12 months to December 2020 

Financial review
During 2020 our income was £4.7m which was used for our ongoing investment in myeloma research 
and healthcare advocacy services. The overall result for the year was a surplus of £1.6m.

£4.7m

Total
Income

Donations, grants 
& legacies 
£4m

Services
£3k

Research and
development

£90k

Fundraising
activities

and events
£647k

Interest and
 other income

 £11k

£3.2m

Total
Expenditure

Raising funds
£0.8m

Services
£0.9m

Research and
development

£0.9m

Communications
£0.6m
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Funds

Our Balance Sheet shows that we are in a 
strong position with a current ratio of 3.9:1 
(2019: 3.3:1); this position is largely attributed 
to significant cash and bank balances which 
are held in anticipation of funding a significant 
portfolio of research activities in the medium 
term (see note 22) and investment into our 
new strategic plan for 2021–2023.

Reserves policy

At 31 December 2020 total reserves were 
£8.3m (2019: £6.7m); reserves are split 
between restricted, designated and general 
reserves as follows:

 • Restricted Reserves, £154k (2019: £147k)

This represents funds that have been 
received to fund research or specific projects; 
further details of these reserves are provided 
in note 23. At the end of 2020 these funds 
had a balance of £154k

 • Designated Reserves, £4.3m (2019: £5.2m)

This is comprised of a reserve designated for 
research purposes of £0.8m (2019: £1.1m), 
a reserve designated for grants payable 
commitments of £1.1m (2019: £1.8m), 
a designated grant for the infrastructure 
programme of £nil (2019: £0.3m), and a 
prudent reserve of £2.4m (2019: £2.1m) 
which represents a mid-range liability for  
the organisation (see note 23)

 • General Reserves, £3.8m (2019: £1.3m)

The Directors have considered the reserves 
required and have taken into account current 
and future liabilities. Our policy is to maintain 
a designated reserve amounting a mid-
range liability position for the charity. Total 
unrestricted reserves at 31 December 2020 
stood at £8.2m (2019: £6.5m)

We are committed to funding research. Our 
current research programme includes £1.3m  
of current commitments to funding translational 
and genetics research at the ICR, and clinical 
trial development at the University of Leeds. 
Note 22 to these accounts highlights the 
commitments made by the organisation in 
regard to Research Grants. This commitment 
will be met from the designated fund and future 
fundraising activities.

Investment policy

Our organisation has a responsibility to its 
supporters and donors to utilise its funds 
for its charitable purpose and to use them 
with efficiency, effectiveness and economy. 
In addition, fiscal prudence is carried out 
at all times to safeguard the organisation’s 
assets. Any reserves and funds exceeding 
immediate cash requirements are considered 
for investment. These sums are held in order 
to meet ongoing commitments to funding 
research.

In 2019 our Board restated its commitment 
to a risk averse and professionally managed 
stance on investment, with all funds 
invested at low risk to capital. These quoted 
investments are stated at mid-market value 
at the balance sheet date. The Statement of 
Financial Activities includes the net realised 
and unrealised gains and losses arising on 
revaluations during the year. 

Based on the economic climate we are 
comfortable with the investment income 
achieved in 2020.
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Risk management
Myeloma UK has a Risk Management Policy 
which defines our approach to risk and the 
process for identification and management 
of the organisation’s key strategic risks. Risks 
are identified and assessed using a common 
matrix and scoring system. The risks are then 
reviewed and those considered to be high are 

discussed by the Executive Leadership Team 
on a monthly basis, with action plans put in 
place to manage them.

Table 1 provides a summary of the key risks 
identified and the steps taken in 2020 in order 
to manage them:

Table 1: Myeloma UK Key Risks

Risk Mitigating action

Financial risk arising from an increasingly challenging 
fundraising environment and over dependence  
on individual networks for major income streams

 • Director of Fundraising role and an income 
generation strategy to ensure pipeline  
of high-level income

 • Focus on engagement of a wider audience

 • Maximise opportunities and existing strengths  
to deliver sustainable income growth

Delay or non-completion of our research and services 
programmes due to lack of funds and/or recruitment  
of patients or staff

 • Ensure adequate funds are in place through the 
implementation and delivery of the fundraising 
strategy and the designated reserve

 • Continuous close monitoring of research projects 
and early action taken when issues arise

 • To work closely and collaboratively with  
our research partners to enable recruitment  
of research staff

Risks associated with information governance  
or security

 • Action plan and staff training to ensure compliance 
with GDPR

 • Continuous review of IT security and staff training

Impact of Brexit on UK economy  
and Myeloma UK's strategy

 • Continuous monitoring of situation and any impact 
on delivery of strategy

 • To work closely and collaboratively with those 
bodies, institutions, companies with whom we 
collaborate to deliver our strategy

Failure to attract and retain staff  • As part of our People Strategy, continue to 
develop and maintain employee reward scheme, 
performance programmes, and training plans  
to aid retention and ensure staff feel valued

COVID-19  • Impact of pandemic on income generation

 • Impact of pandemic on delivery of our strategy 
including research, patient experience, treatment

Grant making policy

All research grants awarded are subjected 
to a strict peer review process by various 
independent panels. The grant award process 
is in accordance with the Association of 
Medical Research Charities (AMRC) guidelines. 
Myeloma UK is a member of the AMRC. 

Going concern

Our Directors are satisfied that the organisation 
has adequate unrestricted resources, of which 
a high percentage is held in cash, which will 
allow it to continue to meet its objectives for the 
foreseeable future. The organisation continues 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
these financial statements.

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Governance, structure 
and management 
Governance, structure and management 

Incorporation and commencement: 
Myeloma UK was registered as a charity on 8 
April 1997; it is a charitable company limited 
by guarantee (Company Number SC190563) 
incorporated on 23 October 1998. It is 
allowed to dispense with the word “limited” 
in its title. The organisation is governed by its 
Memorandum and Articles of Association and 
is recognised as a charity (Scottish Charity 
number SC026116). During 2021 the Trustees 
plan to carry out a review of the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association for the purposes of 
good governance and latest best practice.

Organisational structure

Working closely with the Chief Executive 
Officer, our Directors assume responsibility for 
the governance of the organisation; the setting 
of strategy; approval of budgets; financial 
planning; risk planning and investment strategy. 

All other tasks are the responsibility of the 
Chief Executive Officer, who at the year end 
was supported by the Executive Leadership 
Team and a team of 46 employees. Details of 
our Directors (during the 12 months and up to 
the date of this report) are available on page 
33 under Company Information. 

Whilst Directors are elected at the 
organisation’s Annual General Meeting or are 
co-opted they have no financial interest in the 
organisation. Each Director is formally inducted 
and is provided with relevant information on 
the objectives and aims of Myeloma UK. 

Remuneration Policy

Our board are responsible for the determination 
of Executive Remuneration and take advice 
from officers which includes the benchmarking 
of salaries and evaluation of terms and 
conditions before reaching any decisions. 
Decisions on all other staff salary levels are 
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer, with 
the Finance and Audit Committee considering 

the affordability of any proposed annual and 
incremental pay progression through the yearly 
budget setting cycle. 

There are two sub committees of the board: 
The Finance and Audit Committee and a 
Nominations and Governance Committee. The 
Finance and Audit Committee is responsible 
for overseeing operations including the 
consideration of budgets, planning and HR 
matters.

The Nominations and Governance Committee 
is responsible for ensuring that the board is 
comprised of members with the highest level 
and appropriate mix of skills and experience.

There is also an Advisory Committee to the 
board, the Research Advisory Group. This 
is advisory in nature and does not have the 
authority to act for or bind the organisation. 
The remit of the Research Advisory Group is to 
provide the Chief Executive Officer and Board 
with advice on the development, review and 
implementation of the organisation’s research 
strategy.

Co-operation in pursuit  
of charitable objectives

In pursuit of our objectives we co-operate 
with and partner a number of organisations 
including the Department of Health, the 
National Institute for Health Research, 
the Scottish Medicines Consortium, the 
Association of Medical Research Charities, 
the Blood Cancer Alliance and other relevant 
coalitions, networks and groups including 
other myeloma organisations.
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Company information
Directors

The Directors who served during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date  
of signing were:

Marc Gordon  (Chair)
Sir Frank Chapman  (Vice Chair)
Alexander Montgomery  (Treasurer)

David Allmond (resigned 19 March 2020)

Lee Appleton
Alan Chant
Geraldine Haley

Sarah Henshaw
Dr Karthik Ramasamy
Fenella Willis (from 19 March 2020)

The Directors, along with Executive Leadership Team are considered to be the key management 
personnel of the charity.

Executive Leadership Team

Chief Executive:  Laura Kerby (appointed May 2020)

Director of Healthcare Advocacy Services: Ira Laketic-Ljubojevic
Director of Income Generation:  Claire Houghton (to March 2020)

Director of Income Generation:  Jason Dyer (from July 2020)

Director of Research & Patient Advocacy:  Sarah McDonald
Director of Marketing & Communications:  Jo Nove
Director of Finance & Operations:  Lynn Wallace

Auditor

Azets Audit Services
Chartered Accountants
Exchange Place 3
Semple Street
Edinburgh
EH3 8BL

Legal Advisers

Morton Fraser
Quartermile Two
2 Lister Square
Edinburgh
EH3 9GL

Registered and Principal Office

Myeloma UK 
22 Logie Mill
Beaverbank Business Park
Edinburgh
EH7 4HG

Principal Bankers

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
2 Bernard Street
Edinburgh
EH6 6PU

Investment Managers

Ruffer LLP
80 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 5JL
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Statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities
The Directors (who are also trustees of 
Myeloma UK for the purposes of charity law) 
are responsible for preparing the Directors’ 
Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice).

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year 
which give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the charitable company and 
of the incoming resources and application 
of resources, including the income and 
expenditure, of the charitable company for that 
period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the 
Directors are required to: 

 • Select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently

 • Observe the methods and principles of the 
Charities SORP

 • Make judgements and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent

 • State whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements

 • Prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the organisation will 
continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the charitable company and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006, the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended). They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 

organisation and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. 

Disclosure of information to the auditor

Each of the Directors has confirmed that there 
is no information of which they are aware which 
is relevant to the audit, but of which the auditor 
is unaware. They have further confirmed that 
they have taken appropriate steps to identify 
such relevant information and to establish that 
the auditor is aware of such information. 

The above report has been prepared in 
accordance with the special provisions of Part 
15 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to small 
companies. 

Approved by the Directors at their meeting on 
13 April 2021 and signed on their behalf by:

Signed: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Director  
Marc Gordon
Myeloma UK

22 Logie Mill, Beaverbank Business Park, 
Edinburgh, EH7 4HG
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees of 
Myeloma UK for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of 
Myeloma UK (the ‘charitable company’) for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Activities 
(incorporating the Income and Expenditure 
Account), the Balance Sheet, the Statement 
of Cash Flows, and the notes to the financial 
statements. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

 • give a true and fair view of the state of the 
company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020, 
and of its surplus for the year then ended;

 • have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

 • have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 
2006 (as amended).

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going 
concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on 
the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months 
from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of 
the directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, 
other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are 
responsible for the other information contained 
within the annual report. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our 
responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
themselves. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees of 
Myeloma UK for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Opinions on other matters 
prescribed by the Companies Act 
2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in 
the course of the audit:

 • the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements; and

 • the Directors’ Report has been prepared 
in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding 
of the company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified 
material misstatements in the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion:

 • adequate accounting records have not been 
kept, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited 
by us; or

 • the financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

 • certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

 • we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit; or

 • the directors were not entitled to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with the 
small companies’ regime and take advantage 
of the small companies’ exemptions in 
preparing the directors’ report and from the 
requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of the trustees
As explained more fully in the directors’ 
responsibilities statement set out on page 
40, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the 
company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities is 
available on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at: 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report.

Extent to which the audit was 
considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances 
of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above and on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website, to 
detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to 
which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilitie
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees of 
Myeloma UK for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

The extent to which the audit was 
considered capable of detecting 
irregularities including fraud
Our approach to identifying and assessing the 
risks of material misstatement in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance 
with laws and regulations, was as follows:

 • the engagement partner ensured that the 
engagement team collectively had the 
appropriate competence, capabilities and 
skills to identify or recognise non-compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations;

 • we identified the laws and regulations 
applicable to the charitable company 
through discussions with directors and other 
management, and from our commercial 
knowledge and experience of the charity 
sector; 

 • we focused on specific laws and regulations 
which we considered may have a direct 
material effect on the financial statements 
or the operations of the charitable company, 
including the Companies Act 2006, the 
Charities and Trustees Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006, taxation legislation 
and data protection, anti-bribery, money 
laundering, employment, and health and 
safety legislation;

 • we assessed the extent of compliance with 
the laws and regulations identified above 
through making enquiries of management 
and inspecting legal correspondence; and

 • identified laws and regulations were 
communicated within the audit team 
regularly and the team remained alert to 
instances of non-compliance throughout  
the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the 
charitable company’s financial statements to 
material misstatement, including obtaining an 
understanding of how fraud might occur, by:

 • making enquiries of management as 
to where they considered there was 
susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge of 
actual, suspected and alleged fraud; and

 • considering the internal controls in place to 
mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance 
with laws and regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through 
management bias and override of controls, we:

 • performed analytical procedures to identify 
any unusual or unexpected relationships;

 • tested journal entries to identify unusual 
transactions;

 • assessed whether judgements and 
assumptions made in determining the 
accounting estimates were indicative of 
potential bias; and

 • investigated the rationale behind significant 
or unusual transactions.

In response to the risk of irregularities and 
non-compliance with laws and regulations, we 
designed procedures which included, but were 
not limited to:

 • agreeing financial statement disclosures to 
underlying supporting documentation;

 • reading the minutes of meetings of those 
charged with governance;

 • enquiring of management as to actual and 
potential litigation and claims; and

 • reviewing correspondence with HMRC, 
relevant regulators and the charitable 
company’s legal advisors.

There are inherent limitations in our audit 
procedures described above. The more 
removed that laws and regulations are 
from financial transactions, the less likely 
it is that we would become aware of non-
compliance. Auditing standards also limit 
the audit procedures required to identify 
non-compliance with laws and regulations to 
enquiry of the directors and other management 
and the inspection of regulatory and legal 
correspondence, if any.

Material misstatements that arise due to fraud 
can be harder to detect than those that arise 
from error as they may involve deliberate 
concealment or collusion.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charitable 
company’s members, as a body, in accordance 
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees of 
Myeloma UK for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the charitable company and the 
charitable company’s members as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

   
Michael Harkness (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
 
For and on behalf of Azets Audit Services, 
Statutory Auditor 
Eligible to act as an auditor in terms of Section 
1212 of the Companies Act 2006 
 
Exchange Place 3 
Semple Street 
Edinburgh 
EH3 8BL

Date: 13 April 2021
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Total
General Designated Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019

Note £ £ £ £ £ £

Income and  
endowments from:

Donations, grants  
& legacies 2 3,442,429 – 3,442,429 531,088 3,973,517 3,306,692

Charitable activities:

• Services 3 2,731 – 2,731 – 2,731 18,001

• Research & development 4 90,000 – 90,000 – 90,000 25,600

Other trading activities:

• Fundraising activities & events 5 617,455 – 617,455 29,954 647,409 1,334,121

Investments 6 10,710 – 10,710 – 10,710 19,278

Total 4,163,325 – 4,163,325 561,042 4,724,367 4,703,692

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 7 825,289 – 825,289 – 825,289 927,505

Charitable activities:

• Services 8 730,451 – 730,451 157,649 888,100 997,675

• Research & development 9 307,625 230,187 537,812 317,905 855,717 1,218,819

• Communications 10 594,911 – 594,911 8,146 603,057 524,850

Total 2,458,276 230,187 2,688,463 483,700 3,172,163 3,668,849

Gains on investment assets 18 96,011 – 96,011 – 96,011 78,718

Net income/(expenditure) 1,801,060 (230,187) 1,570,873 77,342 1,648,215 1,113,561

Transfers between funds 23 729,897 (660,169) 69,728 (69,728) - -

Net movement in funds 15 2,530,957 (890,356) 1,640,601 7,614 1,648,215 1,113,561

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 1,306,693 5,240,192 6,546,885 146,689 6,693,574 5,580,013

Total funds carried forward 23 3,837,650 4,349,836 8,187,486 154,303 8,341,789 6,693,574

All results relate to continuing activities.

The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net realised and unrealised gains and losses arising on 
disposals and revaluations of our investments during the year.

The notes on pages 42 to 59 form part of the financial statements.

Statement of Financial Activities (incorporating income and 
expenditure account) for the 12 months to 31 December 2020

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note £ £

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 16 87,660 105,953
Tangible assets 17 41,526 14,021
Investments 18 1,156,171 1,008,395

1,285,357 1,128,369

Current assets
Debtors 19 1,089,863 568,043
Cash at bank and in hand 26 8,421,282 7,405,011

9,511,145 7,973,054

Current liabilities
Creditors due within one year 20 2,454,713 2,407,849

Net current assets 7,056,432 5,565,205

Total net assets 24 8,341,789 6,693,574

Represented by
General funds 23 3,837,650 1,306,693
Designated funds 23 4,349,836 5,240,192

Restricted funds 23 154,303 146,689
8,341,789 6,693,574

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part 15 of 
the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies. The financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the Directors at their meeting on 13 April 2021 and signed on their behalf by:

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Director  
Marc Gordon

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Director  
Alex Montgomery

 
Company Number SC190563

The notes on pages 42 to 59 form part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows  
for the 12 months to 31 December 2020

  2020  2019

 Note £  £

     
Cash flows from operating activities:     
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 25 1,042,280  1,353,015

     
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Dividends, interest and rents from investments  10,710  19,278

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16/17 (36,719)  (13,397)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (26,009)  5,881

     
Change in cash and cash equivalents  
in the reporting period  1,016,271  1,358,896
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the reporting period  7,405,011  6,046,115
Cash and cash equivalents at the end  
of the reporting period 26 8,421,282  7,405,011

The notes on pages 42 to 59 form part of the financial statements.

https://www.myeloma.org.uk


42 | Myeloma UK Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1. Accounting policies

General information – Charitable Company

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (GBP) as that is the currency in which 
the charitable company’s transactions are denominated. They comprise the financial statements of 
Myeloma UK.

The principal activity of Myeloma UK is to help myeloma patients live longer and with a better quality of 
life. We provide a broad and innovative range of services, from information and support, to improving 
standards of treatment and care through research, education, campaigning and raising awareness. 
Patients drive the organisation’s sense of urgency and desire to accelerate the delivery of improved care, 
effective treatments and ultimately to find a cure for myeloma. 

Myeloma UK is a charitable company limited by guarantee incorporated in the United Kingdom and 
registered in Scotland. It is recognised as a charity for tax purposes by HMRC and is registered with the 
Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR) under charity number SC026116. In the event of the 
winding up of the charitable company a member is liable to contribute a sum not exceeding £1. Details 
of the registered office and company registration number can be found on page 32 and page 33 of 
these financial statements. 

Basis of accounting

 • The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 
102, as issued by the Financial Reporting Council (effective 1 January 2019), the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended), the Companies Act 2006 and Charities Statement of Recommended Practice (FRS102).

 • Myeloma UK meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

 • Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transition value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policy.

 • These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (GBP) as that is the currency in which 
the charity’s transactions are denominated

Going concern

 • The charity has net income for the year ended 31 December 2020 of £1,648k (2019: £1,114k) and 
at 31 December 2020 has net assets of £8,342k (2019: £6,694k). At 31 December 2020 the charity 
had unrestricted funds of £8,187k (2019: £6,547k).

 • From March 2020, following the declaration of a global pandemic due to COVID-19, the charity’s 
staff has been working from home. The charity’s activities were adapted to suit a remote working 
model, including for example the provision of digital information sessions rather than our in-person 
Information Events.

 • Although the charity’s income from fundraising activities such as sporting events has fallen due 
to the ongoing restrictions, other income streams have remained robust and offset the impact of 
COVID-19. 

 • Due to the level of unrestricted cash reserves the Directors are of the opinion that the organisation 
can meet its obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future. The organisation makes use 
of budgets and cash flow forecasts to manage and assess financial performance, ensuring that 
liabilities are met as they fall due. On this basis, the Directors consider it appropriate to prepare the 
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Critical judgements and estimates

 • In preparing the financial statements the Directors make estimates and assumptions which affect 
reported results, financial position and disclosure of contingencies. Use of available information 
and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of the estimates, together with past 
experience and expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates

 • Critical judgements are made in the application of income recognition and the recognition of 
grants payable. As part of judgements made in recognising income, a provision for refunds due to 
cancelled events has been calculated in the year and is included in creditors.

Fund accounting

 • Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the Directors in furtherance of the 
general objectives of the organisation

 • Designated funds are unrestricted income sources which have been reserved for a specific future 
purpose.

 • Restricted funds are subject to restrictions on their expenditure imposed by the donor or through 
the terms of an appeal.

Recognition of income

 • Income is recognised when the charity has legal entitlement to the funds, the receipt is probable 
and the amount can be measured reliably.

 • Donations and tax recoveries are included in the period in which they are receivable.

 • Investment income is included when receivable.

 • Legacies are recognised as income when there is entitlement, probability of receipt and 
measurability of the legacy. Where legacies have been notified to the charity and the criteria for 
income recognition haven’t been met, the legacy is treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if 
material. No life interest legacies have been awarded to the organisation.

 • Grants are credited to the Statement of Financial Activities and Income and Expenditure Account in 
the year in which they are receivable. Grants are not recognised as receivable until the conditions 
for receipt have been met.

 • Where there are performance conditions attached to any grants and donations, income is 
recognised when the conditions have been met or when meeting the conditions are within the 
charity’s control and there is sufficient evidence that they have been met or will be met. Where 
a grant condition allows for the recovery of any unexpended grant, a liability is recognised when 
repayment becomes probable.

Allocation and recognition of expenditure

 • Expenditure is recognised when a legal or constructive obligation arises. Where possible, 
expenditure has been charged directly to charitable expenditure or governance costs. Where this is 
not possible, the expenditure has been allocated on the basis of time spent by staff on each activity, 
or on the basis of department headcount.

 • Grants payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charitable objectives 
of the organisation.
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

 • Provisions for grants are made when the intention to make a grant has been communicated to 
the recipient and there is uncertainty about either the timing of the grant or the amount of grant 
payable, but the terms and conditions attached to the grant have been met.

 • Governance costs include those costs associated with meeting the constitutional and statutory 
requirements of the organisation and costs linked to the strategic management of the organisation.

 • Support costs have been allocated to categories on a basis consistent with the use of resources, 
e.g. on the basis of department headcount.

Intangible fixed assets and amortisation

 • Intangible assets consist of capitalised software.

 • Assets are held at costs less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

 • Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate the asset’s value evenly over its 
estimated useful life of 7 years.

 • The amortised value of intangible assets are subject to an annual impairment review.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

 • Tangible fixed assets consist of office equipment and leasehold improvements.

 • Individual fixed assets costing £1,000 or more are capitalised at cost.

 • Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation and impairment losses.

 • Office equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of four years.

 • The Directors have reviewed fixed assets for possible impairment and are satisfied that no such 
impairment has taken place.

Fixed asset investments

 • Investments are stated at fair value at the year end, which is provided by the charitable company’s 
investment advisors. Gains and losses are included within the Statement of Financial Activities.

Debtors

 • Trade debtors are amounts due in relation to clinical trials. Trade debtors are recognised at 
the undiscounted amount of cash receivable, which is normally the invoiced amount, less any 
allowance for doubtful debts.

Cash at bank and in hand

 • Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks which are readily 
convertible, being those with maturities of three months or fewer from inception.

 • Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

Creditors

 • Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired. They are 
recognised at the undiscounted amount owed to the supplier, which is normally the invoice price.
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets and liabilities

 • Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when the charity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial instruments are initially 
measured at transaction price. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are accounted for as set out 
below. 

 • Financial instruments are classified as either ‘basic’ or ‘other’ in accordance with Chapter 11 of FRS 
102. The charitable company has only entered into basic financial instruments.

 • At the end of each reporting period, basic financial instruments are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Quoted equity financial instruments are measured at fair value 
at the end of the reporting period with the resulting changes recognised in income or expenditure. 
Where the fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are recognised at cost less impairment.

 • Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when the charity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised only once the liability has been extinguished through 
discharge, cancellation or expiry.

Holiday pay accrual

 • A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused holiday pay entitlement which has accrued 
at the balance sheet date and is carried forward to future periods. This is measured as the 
undiscounted salary cost of the future holiday entitlement.

Operating leases

 • Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership 
remain with the lessor are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease.

Pension costs

 • The organisation operates a defined contribution pension scheme and the pension charge 
represents the amount payable by the organisation to the fund in the year. Pension costs are 
attached to staff costs in allocating the liability and expense to activities and restricted funds.

Taxation

 • The charity has trading profits from trade which does not relate to the charity’s primary purpose, 
and so are liable to corporation tax. Where the charity exceeds the small trading turnover threshold, 
corporation tax is due on any profits which arise.

 • Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for 
the current or past reporting periods using the tax rates and laws that that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 • The organisation is registered, but partially exempt for VAT. Accordingly, expenditure includes 
irrecoverable VAT where applicable.

 • Any Gift Aid repayment due on income receivable is recognised on an accruals basis.
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Income and endowments

2. Donations grants and legacies 2020 2019
£ £

Donations, legacies (including tax recoverable) 2,633,311 1,886,670
Grants from corporate and charitable trusts 554,526 601,378
Grants from pharmaceutical companies 313,370 270,000
Community fundraising 472,310 548,644

3,973,517 3,306,692

3. Charitable activities – services 2020 2019
£ £

Infoday fees 2,731 18,001
 2,731 18,001

4. Charitable activities – research & development 2020 2019
£ £

Clinical Trial Network 90,000 25,600
90,000 25,600

5. Other trading activities – fundraising activities & events 2020 2019
£ £

Patron programme 162,601 188,000
Myeloma UK events 97,375 481,042
Fundraising activities 211,212 521,122
Merchandise 103,836 119,459
Lottery 72,385 24,498

647,409 1,334,121

Fundraising activities and events includes income generated from Coffee Morning Month, London to Paris bike ride 
(2019 only), Myeloma Awareness week, Christmas card sales, and other fundraising activities.

6. Investment income 2020 2019
£ £

Interest received 10,710 19,278
10,710 19,278
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Expenditure on 2020 2019
£ £

7. Raising funds

Patron programme 13,258 25,996
Myeloma UK events 206 7,124
Fundraising activities 83,215 237,250
Merchandise 41,793 59,046
Other fundraising costs 91,387 81,800
Employment costs (note 13) 409,284 357,035
Support costs (note 12) 167,646 141,900
Governance costs (note 11) 18,500 17,354

825,289 927,505

8. Charitable activities – services 2020 2019
£ £

Programme costs 129,850 277,370
Employment costs (note 13) 512,057 482,169
Support costs (note 12) 221,725 212,186
Governance costs (note 11) 24,468 25,950

888,100 997,675

9. Charitable activities – research 2020 2019
£ £

Programme costs – grants payable 437,945 766,702
Programme costs – other 29,192 116,003
Employment costs (note 13) 281,996 260,209
Support costs (note 12) 95,991 67,634
Governance costs (note 11) 10,593 8,271

855,717 1,218,819

Grants payable in the current and previous year are payable to the following institutions: 

Institute for Cancer Research 116,645 277,302
University of Leeds 312,949 395,242
University of Birmingham – 2,491
Structural Genomics Consortium 33,333 91,667
Manchester University (24,982) –

Total grants payable, as above 437,945 766,702
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10. Charitable activities – communications 2020 2019
£ £

Programme costs 87,270 44,572

Employment costs (note 13) 353,660 321,024
Support costs (note 12) 146,014 141,900
Governance costs (note 11) 16,113 17,354

603,057 524,850
 

11. Governance costs 2020 2019
£ £

Accountancy and audit 14,010 14,300
Board expenses 2,929 17,608
Legal and professional fees 10,449 9,901
Employment costs (note 13) 42,286 27,120

69,674 68,929

12. Support costs 2020 2019
£ £

Employment costs (note 13) 328,263 224,588
Office costs 100,550 101,675

IT costs 62,387 63,732
Administration costs 70,629 70,966
HR & other costs 69,547 102,659

631,376 563,620

13. Employee remuneration 2020 2019
£ £

Salaries 1,674,850 1,465,125

Employer’s national insurance 169,266 138,415
Employer’s pension contribution 83,430 68,605

1,927,546 1,672,145

Average number of employees  
(all directly engaged in charitable activities) 52 49

  
Employees earning between £60,001 and £70,000 4 2
Employees earning between £70,001 and £80,000 1 1
Employees earning between £140,001 and £150,000 – –



   myeloma.org.uk | 49

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

14. Payments to Directors 2020 2019
£ £

No Directors received any remuneration.
Board travel and related expenses reimbursed 2,929 2,537
Trustee indemnity insurance paid during the year 1,277 925
Total employee benefits of key management personnel 446,589 368,326

6 Board Directors were reimbursed travel expenses in 2020 (2019: 4).

A new Chief Executive was appointed in April 2020. The post had been vacant since December 2018. Remuneration 
of key management personnel for 2020 includes 8 months of costs for this role (2019: nil costs).

15. Net movement in funds 2020 2019
£ £

This is stated after charging:

Auditors’ remuneration – audit 8,862 7,800
Auditors’ remuneration – non-audit services 10,862 9,379
Depreciation & amortisation 27,507 24,829

16. Intangible fixed assets Capitalised
software

£
Cost
At 1 January 2020 128,037
Purchased during period –
At 31 December 2020 128,037

Amortisation
At 1 January 2020 22,084
Provided during period 18,293
At 31 December 2020 40,377

Net book value
At 31 December 2020 87,660
At 31 December 2019 105,953
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17. Tangible fixed assets Leasehold Office 
Improvement Equipment Total

£ £ £
Cost
At 1 January 2020 11,239 113,963 125,202
Purchased during period – 36,719 36,719
At 31 December 2020 11,239 150,682 161,921

Depreciation
At 1 January 2020 3,395 107,786 111,181
Provided during period 1,405 7,809 9,214
At 31 December 2020 4,800 115,595 120,395

Net book value
At 31 December 2020 6,439 35,087 41,526
At 31 December 2019 7,844 6,177 14,021

18. Investments 2020
£

Quoted investments and cash:
Fair value 1 January 2020 1,008,395
Purchases and donations in year 51,765
Net Investment (losses)/gains 96,011

Fair value 31 December 2020 1,156,171

Historical cost £850,000

The investments are held in a global fund. Individual securities within this fund are not identifiable. 
Additions in the year comprised a legacy bequest of segments in a bond with Utmost Wealth.

19. Debtors 2020 2019
£ £

Trade debtors 22,175 107,331
Prepayments and accrued income 1,067,688 460,712

1,089,863 568,043
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20. Creditors due within one year 2020 2019
£ £

Trade creditors 776,401 946,729
Accruals and deferred income 527,384 318,262
Accruals for grants payable 1,082,843 1,090,349
Taxation and social security creditors 42,362 52,509
Provision for cancelled events 25,723 –

2,454,713 2,407,849

Deferred income
£ £

At 1 January 2020 154,731 81,770
Released in year (104,953) (6,770)

Income deferred in the year 232,677 79,731
At 31 December 2020 282,455 154,731

Fees payable to the charity upon signing contracts have been deferred as the charity is not entitled to the income 
until work has commenced. Grant income received by the charity where the criteria for recognition are not met is 
similarly deferred. 

Income (registration fees and sponsorship money) relating to sporting events which were postponed to 2021 has 
been deferred until the event takes place.

21. Operating lease commitments

The organisation had non-cancellable commitments under operating leases as follows:

2020 2019
£ £

Land and buildings
Payments due within one year 62,800 62,800
Payments due within 2-5 years 188,400 251,200

251,200 314,000

Equipment
Payments due within one year 2,775 4,447
Payments due within 2-5 years 2,400 4,320

5,175 8,767

Total 256,375 322,767
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22. G
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22. Grants payable commitments (continued)

The organisation committed to a five-year funding package for biomedical research programmes at the ICR on an 
annualised contract basis which was due to begin in early 2019, however due to delays with recruitment to posts 
required for this work, it did not begin until December 2019. During 2020 some of the work programmes were paused 
due to COVID-19. Work is now continuing and year one extension to July 2021 has been agreed.

The organisation remains committed to a five-year funding package for genetics research at the ICR. This work is 
being fully funded by David Forbes Nixon Foundation.

During 2020 funding for the PhD post and the Research Technician at the University of Leeds ended. The organisation 
has a remaining commitment for joint funding of a PhD post at the Leeds Institute of Clinical Trials Research.

During 2020 funding ended for the Structural Genomics Consortium research programme for one bioinformatician 
post.

The organisation remains is committed to a three-year funding package at the University of Leeds for clinical trials 
development. The funding package, which began in 2019, totals £846k.

The organisation remains committed to a health services research project with Manchester University to understand 
the causes and effects of frailty
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23. General, Designated and Restricted funds

01 January Gains/ 31 December
2020 Income Expenses Transfers (losses) 2020

Unrestricted funds £ £ £ £ £ £

General funds 1,306,693 4,163,325 (2,458,276) 729,897 96,011 3,837,650

Designated funds
Operating expenditure 2,079,173 – – 350,776 – 2,429,949
Infastructure Programme 300,000 – – (300,000) – –
Research Programmes 1,054,244 – (230,187) 13,687 – 837,744
Grants Payable Commitments 1,806,775 – – (724,632) – 1,082,143

      
Total unrestricted funds 6,546,885 4,163,325 (2,688,463) 69,728 96,011 8,187,486

Restricted funds

Donations, legacies  
& fundraising – 71,409 (71,409) – – –
ICR – David Forbes Nixon – 3,451 (3,451) – – –
R Townley ICR restricted grant – 75,000 (75,000) – –
ICR – Peter Luck-Hille 120,000 60,000 (95,527) – – 84,473
Joyce & Norman Freed – 33,333 (33,330) (3) – –
Novartis Shared Decision 
Making Tool Restricted Grant – 12,500 (12,500) – – –
Goldman Sachs Gives 26,689 (26,689) – – –
Coronavirus Job  
Retention Scheme – 69,725 – (69,725) – –
Pfizer Education Tool 
Restricted Grant – 20,120 – – – 20,120
Gilead Support Groups – 10,000 – – – 10,000
National Lottery HCP 
Education Restricted Grant – 48,379 (18,669) – – 29,710
Janssen CSEP – 10,000 – – – 10,000
GSK  
COVID-19 Restricted Grant – 64,500 (64,500) – – –
Janssen  
COVID-19 Restricted Grant – 30,000 (30,000) – – –
Takeda  
COVID-19 Restricted Grant – 21,500 (21,500) – – –
Gilead  
COVID-19 Restricted Grant – 9,750 (9,750) – – –
ARM  
COVID-19 Restricted Donation – 6,375 (6,375) – – –
Celgene  
COVID-19 Restricted Grant – 15,000 (15,000) – – –

     
Total restricted funds 146,689 561,042 (483,700) (69,728) – 154,303

Total charity funds 6,693,574 4,724,367 (3,172,163) – 96,011 8,341,789

Donations, legacies and fundraising income given specifically for research purposes have been allocated against the 
Myeloma UK research programmes.
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The named restricted funds represent donations received principally to:

 • Sponsor research projects into the causes and treatment of myeloma and related disorders;

 • Fund specific support activities or information for patients, their carers, families or health care professionals;

 • Be spent on specific activities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

These funds are ring fenced and must only be spent in accordance with donors’ wishes. 

The designated reserves were previously split into a reserve for research purposes and a reserve to cover twelve 
months overhead expenditure. There was also a designated reserve for the grant payable commitments. During 
2020 the Trustees reviewed the reserve policy and considered the minimum liability requirement based on research 
contracts, cost of rent and rates and the full employment liability of the staff team. This was reviewed against the 
maximum liability requirement covering twelve months operational cost, plus contractual liability. The Trustees 
agreed to hold a mid-range liability and accordingly designated reserves have been adjusted to represent this. In 
addition to this designated reserve, further funding required for research will be met by ongoing fundraising activities 
and initiatives.

For comparative purposes, the 2019 funds note is shown below.

01 January 
2019 Income Expenses Transfers

Gains/
(losses)

31 December 
2019

Unrestricted funds £ £ £ £ £ £

General funds 996,805 3,800,618 (2,818,551) (750,897) 78,718 1,306,693

Designated funds

Twelve months  
operating expenditure 1,027,708 – – 1,051,465 – 2,079,173
Infrastructure programme – – – 300,000 – 300,000
Research Programmes 1,031,064 – (478,333) 501,513 – 1,054,244
Grants Payable Commitments 2,573,477 – – (766,702) – 1,806,775

      
Total unrestricted funds 5,629,054 3,800,618 (3,296,884) 335,379 78,718 6,546,885

Restricted funds

Donations, legacies  
& fundraising – 455,807 – (455,807) – –
ICR – Peter Luck-Hille – 120,000 – – – 120,000
ICR – David Forbes Nixon – 200,000 (200,000) – – –
CTN –  
The Harrison-Frank Family – 10,000 (10,000) – – –
CTN – Celgene (119,001) – – 119,001 – –
CTN – Janssen 21,436 – (21,436) – – –
CTN – GMA MUK8 (1,424) – – 1,424 – –
CTN – Novartis (MUK6) – 25,600 (25,600) – – –
NAPP Pharma –  
Blood Cancer Alliance 12,353 – (12,353) – – –
Joyce & Norman Freed (10,000) 101,667 (91,670) 3 – –
Goldman Sachs Gives 26,689 – – – – 26,689
The Ken and Edna Morrison 
Charitable Trust 20,906 – (20,906) – – –

     
Total restricted funds (49,041) 903,074 (371,965) (335,379) – 146,689

Total charity funds 5,580,013 4,703,692 (3,668,849) – 78,718 6,693,574
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23. General, Designated and Restricted funds (continued) 

Donations, legacies and fundraising income given specifically for research purposes have been allocated against the 
Myeloma UK research programmes.

The named restricted funds represent donations received principally to sponsor research projects into the causes 
and treatment of myeloma and related disorders. These funds are ring fenced and must only be spent in accordance 
with donors wishes. 

The designated reserves are split into a reserve for research purposes and a reserve to cover twelve months 
overhead expenditure. There is also a designated reserve for the grant payable commitments.

The organisation is committed to funding clinical trial development at the University of Leeds and the research 
programmes at the ICR. These and additional research programmes are expected to cost in excess of £3m over 
the next five years. In addition to the existing research reserves, further funding required for research will be met by 
ongoing fundraising activities and initiatives.

24. Analysis of net assets between funds 

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total 2020
£ £ £

Intangible fixed assets 87,660 – 87,660

Tangible fixed assets 41,526 – 41,526
Investments 1,156,171 – 1,156,171
Net current assets 6,902,129 154,303 7,056,432

8,187,486 154,303 8,341,789

For comparative purposes, the 2018 analysis of net assets note is shown below:

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total 2018
£ £ £

Intangible fixed assets 105,953 – 105,953
Tangible fixed assets 14,021 – 14,021
Investments 1,008,395 – 1,008,395

Net current assets 5,418,516 146,689 5,565,205

6,546,885 146,689 6,693,574

25. Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities 

2020  2019
 £  £

Net income for the reporting period  
(as per the statement of financial activities) 1,648,215  1,113,561

   
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation & amortisation charges 27,507  24,829
Gains on investments (96,011)  (78,718)
Dividends, interest and rents from investments (10,710)  (19,278)
Bequest of investments (51,765)  –
Decrease/(increase) in debtors (521,820)  32,305
Increase in creditors 46,864  280,316

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,042,280  1,353,015
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26. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

2019 Cash flows 2020
 £  £
    

Cash at bank 7,405,011  1,016,271 8,421,282

The charitable company does not have any financial debts such as overdrafts or bank loans.

27. Controlling party

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no controlling party. 

28. Related parties

Dr Karthik Ramasamy, a Director of Myeloma UK from 27 November 2018, is Consultant Haematologist at Oxford 
University Hospitals NHS Trust. Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust has entered into a contract to participate in 
the CTN.

The charity received an unrestricted donation in the year of £100,000 (2019: £nil) from IGY Foundation. One of the 
trustees of Myeloma UK is also a trustee of IGY Foundation. 

The charity also received unrestricted donations in the year of £15,000 (2019: £2,000) from Nimrod Capital LLP. One 
of the trustees of Myeloma UK is also a designated member of Nimrod Capital LLP.
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29. Comparative Statement of Financial Activities

General 
Funds 
2019

Designated 
Funds 
2019

Total 
Unrestricted 

Funds 
2019

Restricted 
Funds 
2019

Total 
Funds 
2019

Note £ £ £ £ £

Income and  
endowments from:

Donations, grants and legacies 2 2,811,069 – 2,811,069 495,623 3,306,692
Charitable activities:

• Services 3 18,001 – 18,001 – 18,001

• Research & development 4 – – – 25,600 25,600

Other trading activities

Fundraising activities & events 5 952,270 – 952,270 381,851 1,334,121
Investments 6 19,278 – 19,278 – 19,278

Total 3,800,618 3,800,618 903,074 4,703,692

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 7 927,505 – 927,505 – 927,505
Charitable activities:

• Services 8 997,675 – 997,675 – 997,675

• Research & development 9 368,521 478,333 846,854 371,965 1,218,819

• Communications 10 524,850 – 524,850 – 524,850

Total 2,818,551 478,333 3,296,884 371,965 3,668,849

Gains/(losses)  
on investment assets 18 78,718 – 78,718 – 78,718

Net income/(expenditure) 1,060,785 (478,333) 582,452 531,109 1,113,561

Transfers between funds 23 (750,897) 1,086,276 335,379 (335,379) –

Net movement in funds 15 309,888 607,943 917,831 195,730 1,113,561

Reconcilliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 996,805 4,632,249 5,629,054 (49,041) 5,580,013
Total funds carried forward 23 1,306,693 5,240,192 6,546,885 146,689 6,693,574
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30. Company status

Myeloma UK is a company limited by guarantee and the contribution of members to the liability of the Charity is 
restricted by the Memorandum and Articles of Association to a maximum of £1.

31. Non-audit services

In common with many other organisations of its size, the charitable company engages its auditors to provide payroll 
bureau services.

32. Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through net income

2020 2019
£ £

Quoted investments 1,156,571 1,008,395

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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Appendix 1

This appendix is for information only and does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Income and cash receipts from pharmaceutical and related healthcare companies

Accrued / 
(deferred) at 
01/01/2020

Cash 
received in 

year

Accrual 
reversed in 

year

Deferral 
released in 

year
Accrued  

in year
Deferred in 

year

Total  
income 

recognised 
in 2020

Accrued / 
(deferred) at 
31/12/2020

Amgen (Europe) GmbH – 90,000 – – – – 90,000
Amgen Ltd – 50,000 – – – (50,000) – (50,000)
The Binding Site Ltd – 20,000 – – – – 20,000
Celgene Ltd – 60,000 – – 15,000 – 75,000 15,000
CRISPR Therapeutics AG – – – – 739 – 739 739
Gilead Sciences Ltd – 19,750 – – – – 19,750 –
GlaxoSmithKline 
Research and 
Development Ltd – 64,500 – – – – 64,500 –
Janssen-Cilag Ltd – 40,000 – – – – 40,000 –
Janssen  
Pharmaceutica NV – 640 – – 450 – 1,090  450.00 
Karyopharm  
Europe GmbH – 715 – – – – 715 –
Novartis 
Pharmaceuticals UK Ltd (30,000) – 12,500 – – 12,500 (17,500)
Pfizer Ltd – 20,120 – – – – 20,120 –
Sanofi – 80,355 – – – (80,355) – (80,355)
Takeda UK Limited (31,375) 61,760 – – 500 – 62,260 (30,875)

Total (61,375) 507,840 – 12,500 16,689 (130,355) 406,674 (162,541)
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This appendix is for information only and does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Split of Income recognised in 2020:

CTN Core grant
COVID-19 

grant Other grant Donations Honoraria Total

Amgen (Europe) GmbH 90,000 – – – – – 90,000
The Binding Site Ltd – – – – 20,000 – 20,000
Celgene Ltd – 40,000 15,000 20,000 – – 75,000

CRISPR Therapeutics AG – – – – – 739 739
Gilead Sciences Ltd – – 9,750 10,000 – – 19,750
GlaxoSmithKline Research  
and Development Ltd – – 64,500 – – – 64,500
Janssen-Cilag Ltd – – 30,000 10,000 – – 40,000
Janssen Pharmaceutica NV – – – – – 1,090 1,090
Karyopharm Europe GmbH – – – – – 715 715
Novartis Pharmaceuticals UK Ltd – – – 12,500 – – 12,500
Pfizer Ltd – – – 20,120 – – 20,120
Takeda UK Limited – 40,000 21,500 – – 760 62,260

Total 90,000 80,000 140,750 72,620 20,000 3,304 406,674

 
Appendix 1 (continued)
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We also wish to thank our supporters who chose to remain anonymous.

If you would like to support our work visit: myeloma.org.uk/get-involved

Support from individual philanthropists, our patrons, trusts and foundations, and corporate 
partners is vital to funding our crucial work. We are particularly grateful to those listed who 
have donated to us during the year as well contributing towards our COVID-19 appeal. A special 
thank you goes out to our Board of Directors, partners and all the staff at Myeloma UK who 
make our work possible.

Individuals
Allan and Rena Galt 

Alex Wilson

Andrew Boyd

Anthony Abrahams

Barry Johnson 

Bob and Louise Dowson

Catherine Pryde

Mr and Mrs Charles Symons

David Lloyd

Derek H Granger

Glen Manchester

Graham Edwards

Helen Farquharson

Jenny Benjamin

Jenny and Peter Michaelides

John Turner

Judy and Richard Townley

Kenneth Randall

Melanie and Michael Sherwood

Noel Gibbs and Juliet 
Hunter-Tilney

Paul Wood

Peter Davies

Stephen Greatorex

Stuart Roden

Sylvia Ifold

The de Winton Family

Timothy Newling

Toby Gosnall

Margaret Sandra 

Thank you
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Trusts and Foundations 
Cecil Rosen Foundation

Coronavirus Community Support Fund, distributed 
by The National Lottery Community Fund

David Forbes-Nixon Charitable Foundation

Dr J C B Sym Charitable Trust

E F and M G Hall Charitable Trust

Edward Binks Discretionary Settlement

Heathside Charitable Trust

Joseph & Brenda Siegler Charitable Trust

Joseph Strong Frazer Trust

Mrs C M Livesley 1992 Charitable Trust

Oliver Stanley Charitable Trust

Reverend W N Monteith’s 2004 Charitable Trust

The Bothwell Charitable Trust

The Burry Charitable Trust

The C.A. Redfern Charitable Foundation

The Hospital Saturday Fund Charitable Trust

The Joyce and Norman Freed Charitable Trust

The Kreitman Foundation

The Michael and Anna Wix Charitable Trust

The Sycamore Trust

The Sylvia Aitken Charitable Trust

Corporates 
Arm Ltd 

Elite Mobile Ltd

Lloyd’s Charity Trust

Nimrod Capital LLP

Thomas Miller & Co Ltd

https://www.myeloma.org.uk
https://www.myeloma.org.uk/get-involved
https://www.myeloma.org.uk
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